IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-201

FAUNCE LEVON PEARCE,

Appellee. _____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center #4 3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813) 287-7900 Fax: (813) 281-5500

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
ISSUE I
WHETHER THE POST-CONVICTION COURT ERRED IN FINDING DEFENSE COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE IN FAILING TO FILE A MOTION IN LIMINE OR OTHERWISE ATTEMPT TO EXCLUDE EVIDENCE THAT PEARCE FORCED THE ATTEMPTED MURDER VICTIM TO PERFORM A SEX ACT UPON HIM UNDER THE THREAT OF DEATH.
ISSUE II
WHETHER THE POST-CONVICTION COURT ERRED IN FINDING COUNSEL INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO INVESTIGATE POTENTIAL PENALTY PHASE MITIGATION.
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF FONT COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

<u>Anderson v. State</u> , 574 So. 2d 87 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u> , 502 U.S. 834 (1991)69
Boyd v. State,
910 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 2005)
Chandler v. State,
702 So. 2d 186 (Fla. 1997)69
Cherry v. State,
781 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2000), cert. denied,
534 U.S. 878 (2001)
Cox v. State,
32 Fla. L. Weekly S 427 (July 5, 2007)66
Cummings-El v. State,
863 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 2003)
Damren v. State,
696 So. 2d 709 (Fla. 1997)
Downs v. State,
740 So. 2d 506 (Fla. 1999)
Faretta v. California,
422 U.S. 806 (1975) 85
Goode v. State,
403 So. 2d 931 (Fla. 1981)
Griffin v. State,
639 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 1994)58
Haliburton v. Singletary,
691 So. 2d 466 (Fla. 1997) 85
Hamblen v. State,
527 So. 2d 800 (Fla. 1988)
Hunter v. State,
660 So. 2d 244 (Fla. 1995), <u>cert. denied</u> ,
516 U.S. 1128 (1996)
Johnson v. State,
32 Fla. L. Weekly S 445 (Fla. July 5, 2007)61
Johnson v. State,
438 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 1983), <u>cert. denied</u> ,

465 U.S. 1051 (1984)64
King v. State,
390 So. 2d 315 (Fla. 1980)64
Koon v. Dugger, 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 1993)
LaMarca v. State, 785 So. 2d 1209 (Fla. 2001)
Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U.S. 364 (1993)
<pre>Mendyk v. State, 545 So. 2d 846 (Fla.), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 984 (1989)64</pre>
<u>Mora v. State</u> , 814 So. 2d 322 (Fla. 2002)
<pre>Pearce v. State, 880 So. 2d 561 (Fla. 2004)1, 5, 63</pre>
<pre>Pettit v. State, 591 So. 2d 618 (Fla.), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 836 (1992) 69</pre>
<u>Raleigh v. State</u> , 932 So. 2d 1054 (Fla. 2006)
<u>Remeta v. State</u> , 522 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1988)
Rutherford v. State, 727 So. 2d 216 (Fla. 1998)
<u>Schriro v. Landrigan</u> , 127 S.Ct. 1933, 167 L.Ed.2d 836 (2007) 75, 76, 77, 78
<u>Smith v. State</u> , 699 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 1997)
<u>State v. Riechmann</u> , 777 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2000)54
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> , 466 U.S. 668 (1984)
<u>Thomas v. Jones</u> , 891 F.2d 1500 (11th Cir. 1989)69
<u>Tompkins v. Dugger</u> , 549 So. 2d 1370 (Fla. 1989)89
<u>U.S. v. Cancelliere</u> , 69 F.3d 1116 (11th Cir. 1995)

Waters v. Thomas,
46 F.3d 1506 (11th Cir.), cert. denied,
516 U.S. 856 (1995)5
White v. Singletary,
972 F.2d 1218 (11th Cir. 1992)6
Williams v. State,
32 Fla. L. Weekly S 347 (June 21, 2007)6
Wuornos v. State,
676 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 1995)6
Ziegler v. State,
402 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 1981)6
Other Authorities
§ 90.402, Fla. Stat
§ 90.404, Fla. Stat

§ 921.142, Fla. Stat. 84

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

THE PROCEDURAL POSTURE

Following his unsuccessful direct appeal in <u>Pearce v. State</u>, 880 So. 2d 561 (Fla. 2004), Pearce filed a Motion for Post-Conviction Relief on September 1, 2005. A post-conviction hearing was held over several days before the Honorable Judge Lynn Tepper between July and December of 2006. During this hearing, the defense attorneys, three lay witnesses and four mental health experts testified. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Tepper found trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in both the guilt and penalty phases and reversed Pearce's convictions. (V,771). The State filed a timely notice of appeal.

RELEVANT FACTS

A. <u>Trial</u>

In its direct his conviction on direct appeal, this Court provided the following summary of the facts:

On the evening of September 13, 1999, Pearce visited Bryon Loucks at Loucks' home, which was also Loucks' place of business, a mobile home dealership known as We Shelter America. Pearce worked for the business by setting up mobile homes. Pearce was looking for Loucks' teenage stepson, Ken Shook, in order to obtain LSD (lysergic acid diethylamide) geltabs. Shook called two friends, Stephen Tuttle and Robert Crawford, who in turn called another friend, Amanda Havner. Havner contacted her source for drugs, Tanya Barcomb, who said she could obtain the geltabs. Tuttle, Crawford, and Havner then went to Loucks' business, where Pearce gave them \$1200 to obtain a book of 1000 geltabs. Pearce indicated that they should not return without either the money or the drugs. Shook, Tuttle, Crawford, and Havner went to Barcomb's house, where Barcomb indicated that she, her boyfriend, and Havner would obtain the drugs from a supplier while the three boys remained behind. After arriving at an apartment complex, Barcomb told Havner to stay in the car. Barcomb and her boyfriend entered a friend's apartment. The boyfriend hid the money in his own shoe and punched himself in the face. When Barcomb and her boyfriend returned to the car, they told Havner that their drug supplier stole the money. Barcomb's deception, Because of Shook, Tuttle,

Crawford, and Havner eventually were forced to return to Loucks' business without the money or the drugs.

While the teenagers were gone, Pearce and Loucks received a telephone call from Barcomb explaining that Pearce's money had been stolen. Pearce became very angry and was standing outside with a gun visibly tucked in his pants when the four teenagers returned shortly thereafter. As Shook, Tuttle, Crawford, and Havner exited the car, Pearce waved the gun and ordered them inside Loucks' business office. This business location was surrounded by a twelve-foot fence, topped with barbed wire. The fence also had a locked gate. Pearce confined Loucks and the four teenagers at this location for an unknown period of time. During this confinement, the witnesses described Pearce's mood as swinging between calm and threatening. Pearce refused to allow anyone to leave and, at various times, waved his gun at the confined individuals. Havner made some phone calls in a futile attempt to recover Pearce's money. At one point, Pearce grabbed Havner by the throat and slammed her head against a wall. He also pointed the gun at Havner and threatened to shoot her in the head. Pearce eventually allowed Havner to leave when her brother arrived at the business location. At another point, Pearce took Tuttle outside and forced him at gunpoint to perform oral sex upon him.

At some point, Pearce called his friend Theodore Butterfield, and requested that Butterfield come armed to Loucks' business. Pearce also requested that Butterfield bring Lawrence Joey Smith with him. Heath Brittingham, who was at the house with Butterfield,

accompanied Butterfield and Smith. When Butterfield, Smith, and Brittingham arrived at Loucks' business, they were visibly armed. Smith stated, "We're here to do business." According to Tuttle, Pearce spoke with these three men outside. Brittingham also testified that Pearce and Smith spoke to each other, but he was not able to hear their conversation. Pearce told the three men that Tuttle and Crawford were going to show them where to find the people who had stolen Pearce's While still holding his gun, Pearce told money. Tuttle and Crawford to get in his car. Loucks refused to allow Pearce to take his stepson, Shook. Loucks also offered to drive Tuttle and Crawford to their homes and to get Pearce his money in the morning. Pearce refused, but told Loucks he was not going to hurt the boys--only take them down the road, punch them in the mouth, and make them walk home. Pearce instructed Loucks to wait by the phone to hear from the boys.

Pearce, Smith, Butterfield, Brittingham, Tuttle, and Crawford left in Pearce's car, a two-door Trans Am with a t-top. Pearce drove the car and Smith sat in the front passenger seat. Tuttle sat on Crawford's lap in the middle of the backseat, with Butterfield and Brittingham seated on both sides of the boys. After driving south on Highway 41 in Pasco County, Pearce turned right on State Road 54 and drove to a According to Butterfield's dark, desolate area. testimony, sometime during this drive Smith told Pearce that his 9 mm pistol was jammed and the two men exchanged guns, with Smith receiving Pearce's functional .40 caliber pistol. Brittingham also testified that Pearce and Smith exchanged guns during the drive.

Pearce stopped the car along the side of the road and told Tuttle to get out of the car. Smith first exited from the passenger's side and stood between the door and the car while Tuttle exited the backseat on the passenger's side. Pearce told Smith either to "break [Tuttle's] jaw" or "pop him in the jaw for stealing my shit," to which Smith replied, "Fuck that." Smith then turned around and shot Tuttle once in the back of the head. When Smith got back in the car, Pearce asked, "Is he dead?," and Smith replied, "Yeah, he's dead. I shot him in the head with a fucking .40." Pearce then drove approximately two hundred yards down the road, stopped the car, and Smith exited the vehicle again. Pearce ordered Crawford out. Crawford complied while pleading, "No. Please no." Smith shot Crawford twice: in the head and in the arm.

After leaving the scene, Smith threatened to kill Butterfield and Brittingham if they "snitched" on him. Pearce drove to a restaurant where he and Smith ate breakfast. Pearce and Smith left Butterfield and Brittingham at a grocery store, telling them not to leave, and returned for them within an hour. Pearce then drove to the Howard Frankland Bridge over Tampa Bay, where Smith wrapped the .40 caliber pistol in newspaper and threw it in the water. Shortly thereafter, the four men split up. Smith attempted to leave town by bus but was unable to do so because of an approaching hurricane.

Tuttle survived the gunshot to his head. At trial, he testified that he remembered getting out of the car and then everything went black. His next memory was waking up on the side of the road. He felt the hole in his head, but did not remember being shot or who shot him. He eventually flagged down a passing motorist for assistance. Crawford, however, died at The medical examiner testified that the scene. Crawford's injuries suggested that he was shot first in the arm, with that bullet traveling through his body and lodging in his throat; that the gunshot wound to Crawford's head, which was fatal, entered the right side of Crawford's head about four inches above his ear and exited the left side; and that Crawford would have lost consciousness fifteen to twenty seconds after the shot to his head and died within two to five minutes.

The entire course of these events occurred during the evening of September 13, and into the morning of September 14, 1999. That morning, Butterfield and Brittingham were located and interviewed by police. Smith was arrested on the same day, and Pearce was located and arrested a few weeks later. The murder weapon, Pearce's .40 caliber pistol, was recovered from the location in Tampa Bay where Butterfield stated that Smith had thrown it. The bullets removed from Tuttle and Crawford were matched to the same pistol.

Butterfield and Brittingham agreed to cooperate

with the State in exchange for not being charged with any crimes related to these offenses. Both testified trial. During the cross-examination of at Brittingham, Pearce's counsel attempted to offer a videotape of a prior statement that Brittingham made to an investigating officer. This prior statement was offered as impeachment evidence, but the court denied its introduction. A transcript of the videotape was this proffered by the defense. In videotaped statement, Brittingham stated that Pearce had no knowledge of Smith's intention to shoot the victims and that Pearce had asked Smith what he was doing when he shot the victims.

Pearce did not testify or present any evidence during the guilt phase. Pearce was convicted of first-degree murder with a firearm for Crawford's death and attempted second-degree murder with a firearm for the shooting of Tuttle. During the penalty phase, the State relied upon the evidence presented in its case in chief. Pearce chose not to testify or present penalty phase argument. The jury recommended death by a vote of ten to two.

During the Spencer n2 hearing, Pearce declined to present evidence or argument and forbade his attorneys to do so. In imposing sentence, the trial court considered a handwritten letter from Pearce, letters from family members of Crawford, a comprehensive presentence investigation, and several hundred pages of court, criminal, school, and other records pertaining to Pearce. The trial court found three aggravating factors: a previous conviction of а violent felony, based on the attempted murder of Tuttle (given great weight); that the murder was committed while engaged in kidnapping (given great weight); and that the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification (given great weight). See §921.141(5)(b), (d), (i), Fla. Stat. (2001). The trial court found no statutory mitigating factors. While Pearce requested no nonstatutory factors, the trial court considered a number of factors based on claims in Pearce's correspondence to the court. The trial court concluded that two of Pearce's claims (that he was afraid of Smith and only participated in the murder because of this fear, and that the State witnesses lied) were actually claims of lingering

doubt and would not be considered as mitigating factors. The trial court also discounted Pearce's that Crawford was killed because claim of his involvement in an illicit drug deal and Pearce's complaints about the conduct of his trial. The trial court noted that a teenager's foolish involvement with the illicit drug culture did not warrant his death and that any complaints about the trial proceedings could be raised during appellate review. The trial court did find Pearce's good conduct in jail to be a mitigating factor, but only entitled to little weight. The trial court concluded that the aggravating factors far outweighed the mitigating factors and imposed a death sentence.

Pearce v. State, 880 So. 2d 561, 565-568 (Fla. 2004).

After being convicted, Pearce indicated it was his desire to waive the presentation of mitigating evidence. (T11,1027). Upon inquiry of the trial court, defense counsel Mark Ware advised the court that he had fully discussed with Pearce the mitigating factors which he thought were available to Pearce. Ware advised the court that he believed Pearce's drug use at the time of the offense, that Amanda Havner was let go, that he turned himself in, that he gave a voluntary statement to the Pasco County Sheriff's Office, could be presented in mitigation.

(T11,1028-29). Ware also advised the court that it was his belief Pearce understood the mitigating factors, and that he understood his right to present mitigating evidence. (T11,1029). In a colloquy with the court, Pearce confirmed that he had discussed this issue with his attorneys and the specific mitigating circumstances which could be presented on his behalf. Pearce stated that he understood those circumstances: "Yes,

sir, I do." (T11,1030).

Pearce stated that it was his desire to waive the presentation of any mitigating evidence to the jury. (T11,1030). Pearce told the court that no one forced, compelled, or threatened him to waive mitigating evidence. (T11,1030). He again told the court that he was freely and voluntarily waiving the presentation of mitigating evidence. (T11,1030).

After the colloquy with Pearce, the prosecutor raised the concern that Pearce had not been examined by a mental health professional. The court advised Pearce that he had a "right to have a psychiatrist or psychologist" examine him." (T11,1031-32). Pearce stated that he did "[n]ot particularly" care to be examined. (T11,1032). When the prosecutor raised the possibility of having Pearce examined now, Ware responded, in part: "Mr. Pearce has indicated he does not wish to have any psychological/psychiatric report; he would not cooperate. He has indicated he has no mental history, mental health problems in the past." (T11,1038).

The trial court recognized the evolving nature of case law in the area of waving mitigating evidence. The court noted that Pearce had two "very competent" attorneys to represent him and did not see a need to add a third lawyer to represent the defendant. The trial court stated he thought that Pearce freely

and voluntarily waived his right to present mitigating evidence.

(T11,1041). The court stated:

The Court has determined that there is no evidence in this case, and I do so find, that Mr. Pearce suffered from such mental defect as to be incompetent to make the plea which he's making. There's no evidence in either the nature of the offense, the circumstances of the offense, or his conduct in court that would suggest that Mr. Pearce is not fully cognizant of what's going on and fully capable of making these decisions.

The Court likewise has, if I have not already, but I am certain I believe I've already ordered a comprehensive PSI for Mr. Pearce as well. So regardless of what happens today, the Court will have the benefit of a very comprehensive PSI, which I assume also will include every mitigating factor we can come up with.

The Court does not find that either of the cases mentioned require appointment of a psychiatrist and psychologist. And in light thereof from the circumstances, and in light of what the defendant himself has indicated today from counsel, the Court finds it would be not productive to the Court to make such appointment.

(T11,1043).

At the close of the prosecutor's penalty phase argument,

defense counsel Ware asked to approach the bench. He stated for

the record, the following:

Judge, for the record I want it to be clear that Mr. Pearce had asked me to argue, number one, that he did not want independent counsel, he did not want psychological or psychiatric doctors appointed, he did not want this proceeding continued. He wanted to proceed. He did not wish for me to produce any mitigating evidence, testimony, or argument. All this was against my legal advice as well as against Mr. Ivie's legal advice.

(T11,1072).

During the Spencer hearing Pearce again affirmed that it was his desire not to present any evidence or testimony. When advised by the court about defense counsel's ability to address the court in an effort to assist the court in sentencing, Mr. Ware stated: "Your Honor, for purposes of my representation of Mr. Pearce, I've been informed emphatically not to present any mitigating circumstances, Your Honor. I don't want to violate any ethical considerations." (T-8). Pearce confirmed that it was his "desire" that his attorneys not present any evidence or testimony of any kind on his behalf. (T-8). Mr. Ware also stated that he had spoken to Pearce about it before and that "not presenting mitigating evidence" is against his advice. (T-8). Pearce then addressed the court regarding a motion he filed for counsel to file an "interlocutory appeal." Pearce responded to the prosecutor's contention that the issues were not proper for such an appeal, stating: "I'd go further to say that the issue to be resolved is a violation of the 14th Amendment right to due process; has very little to do with ineffective assistance of counsel and would, therefore, be covered under an interlocutory appeal had it been filed timely." (T-13). The court denied the motion.

B. THE POST CONVICTION HEARING

Trial Attorneys

A.J. Ivie testified that he was a conflict attorney appointed to represent Pearce in Pasco County. He replaced another conflict attorney, Samuel Williams, who withdrew from the case. Ivie had been lead counsel on a number of capital cases during the course of his career but did not specifically recall how many. (VI,843-44). Ivie had "thirty-six" years experience in private practice. During that time a large percentage of his practice was devoted to criminal defense work. (VI,849).

Since representing Pearce, Ivie has had a number of medical problems, including suffering a stroke in November of 2002 or 2003. (VI,841). Ivie explained that his "left side has become involved and my ability to recall details has been compromised." (VI,842). In fact, Ivie's memory has been significantly compromised as a result of the stroke and he can recall "very little." (VI,842).

Ivie seemed to recall attempting to minimize Pearce's involvement in the murders during the guilt phase.¹ (VI,813). He had no recollection of it, but, had no reason to dispute that he argued in opening statement that Tuttle would testify that no one threatened him to get into Pearce's car. (VI,813). He did

¹ Ivie had no reason to dispute defense counsel's assertion that he took some depositions of potential witnesses and Sam Williams and Phillip Cohen, took others. (VI,816-17).

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