IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-201

Faunce Pearce

Appellee,

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR PASCO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

RICHARD E. KILEY
Fla. Bar No. 0558893
STAFF ATTORNEY
JAMES VIGGIANO, JR.
Fla. Bar No. 0715336
STAFF ATTORNEY
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL
MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
(813) 740-3544

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

The testimony from Steven Tuttle was that he couldn# go anywhere.

Why not?

Well, I wonder if it has anything to do with the fact that after she confronted him, Amanda had a cocked .40-caliber handgun put in her face. Apparently, that threat was believable enough to Mr. Loucks because he tried to break it up - - did break it up. Told everybody to calm down.

How serious was the threat? How threatened did these folks feel? How threatened was Steve Tuttle? How afraid was he?

I m going to say it once and I am not going back to it again. Steve Tuttle put the penis of Faunce Pearce in his mouth because he thought if he didn±, he would die.

Were they confined? Did they have a choice? How serious was the threat, and how deeply - how deeply - - did they believe it?

No objection was made nor was any motion for mistrial raised by trial counsel. The issue had not been preserved due to counsels ineffectiveness.

The facts pertinent to this claim and as characterized by this Court in the direct appeal are as follows:

On the evening of September 13, 1999, Pearce visited Bryon Loucks at Loucks-home, which was also Loucksplace of business, a mobile home dealership known as We Shelter America. Pearce worked for the business by setting up mobile homes. Pearce was looking for Loucks-teenage stepson, Ken Shook, in order to obtain LSD (lysergic acid diethylamide) geltabs. Shook called two friends, Stephen Tuttle and Robert Crawford, who in turn called another friend, Amanda Havner. Havner contacted her source for drugs, Tanya Barcomb, who said she could obtain the geltabs. Tuttle, Crawford, and Havner then went to Louchs=business, where Pearce gave them \$1200 to obtain the drugs from a supplier while the three boys remained behind. After arriving at an apartment complex, Barcomb told Havner to stay in the car. Barcomb and her boyfriend entered a friend-s apartment. The boyfiend hid the money in his own shoe and punched himself in the face. When Barcomb and her boyfriend returned to the car, they told Havner that their drug supplier stole the money. Because of Barcomb-s deception, Shook, Tuttle, Crawford, and Havner eventually were forced to return to Loucks= business without the money or the drugs.

While the teenagers were gone, Pearce and Loucks received a telephone call from Barcomb explaining that Pearce-s money had been stolen. Pearce became very angry and was standing outside with a gun visibly tucked in his pants when the four teenagers returned shortly thereafter. As Shook, Tuttle, Crawford, and Havner exited the car, Pearce waved the gun and ordered them inside Loucks= business office. This

business location was surrounded by a twelve-foot fence, topped with barbed wire. The fence also had a locked gate. Pearce confined Loucks and the four teenagers at this location for an unknown period of time. During this confinement, the witnesses described Pearce-s mood as swinging between calm and threatening. Pearce refused to allow anyone to leave and, at various times, waved his gun at the confined individuals. Havner made some phone calls in a futile attempt to recover Pearce-s money. At one point, Pearce grabbed Havner by the throat and slammed her head against the wall. He also pointed the gun at Havner and threatened to shoot her in the head. Pearce eventually allowed Havner to leave when her brother arrived at the business location. At another point, Pearce took Tuttle outside and forced him at gunpoint to perform oral sex upon him.

At some point, Pearce called his friend Theodore Butterfield, and requested that Butterfield come armed to Loucks= business. Pearce also requested that Butterfield bring Lawrence Joey Smith with him. Heath Brittingham, who was at the house with Butterfield, accompanied Butterfield and Smith. When Butterfield, Smith, and Brittingham arrived at Loucks=business, they were visibly armed. Smith stated AWere here to do business.@According to Tuttle, Pearce spoke with these three men outside. Brittingham also testified that Pearce and Smith spoke to each other, but he was not able to hear their conversation. Pearce told the three men that Tuttle and Crawford were going to show them where to find the people who had stolen Pearces money. While still holding his gun, Pearce told Tuttle and Crawford to get in his car. Loucks refused to allow Pearce to take his stepson, Shook. Loucks also offered to drive Tuttle and Crawford to their homes and to get Pearce his money in the morning. Pearce refused, but told Loucks he was not going to hurt the boys - only take them down the road, punch them in the mouth, and make them walk home. Pearce instructed Loucks to wait by the phone to hear from the boys.

Pearce, Smith, Butterfield, Brittingham, Tuttle, and Crawford left in Pearce-s car, a two-door Trans Am with a T-top.Pearce drove the car and Smith sat in the front passenger seat. Tuttle sat on Crawford-s lap in the middle of the backseat, with Butterfield and Brittingham seated on both sides of the boys. After driving south on Highway 41 in Pasco County, Pearce turned right on State Road 54 and drove to a dark, desolate area. According to Butterfield-s testimony, sometime during this drive Smith told Pearce that his 9 mm pistol was jammed and the two men exchanged guns, with Smith receiving Pearce-s functional .40 caliber pistol. Brittingham also testified that Pearce and Smith exchanged guns during the drive.

Pearce stopped the car along the side of the road and told Tuttle to get out of the car. Smith first exited from the passenger-s side and stood between the door and the car while Tuttle exited the backseat on the passenger-s side. Pearce told Smith either to Abreak [Tuttle=s] jaw@ or Apop him in the jaw for stealing my shit,@ to which Smith replied, AFuck that.@ Smith then turned around and shot Tuttle once in the back of the head. When Smith got back in the car, Pearce asked, Als he dead?,@and Smith replied, AYeah, he-s dead. I shot him in the head with a fucking .40.@ Pearce then drove approximately two hundred yards down the road, stopped the car, and Smith exited the vehicle again. Pearce ordered Crawford out. Crawford complied while pleading, ANo, Please no.@Smith shot Crawford twice: in the head and in the arm.

After leaving the scene, Smith threatened to kill Butterfield and Brittingham if they Asnitched@ on him.

Pearce drove to a restaurant where he and Smith ate breakfast. Pearce and Smith left Butterfield and Brittingham at a grocery store, telling them not to leave, and returned for them within an hour. Pearce then drove to the Howard Franklin Bridge over Tampa Bay, where Smith wrapped the .40 caliber pistol in newspaper and threw it in the water. Shortly thereafter, the four men split up. Smith attempted to leave town by bus but was unable to do so because of an approaching hurricane.

Tuttle survived the gunshot to his head. At trial, he testified that he remembered getting out of the car and then everything went black. His next memory was waking up on the side of the road. He felt the hole in his head, but did not remember being shot or who shot him. He eventually flagged down a passing motorist for assistance. Crawford, however died at the scene. The medical examiner testified that Crawfords injuries suggested that he was shot first in the arm, with the bullet traveling through his body and lodging in his throat; that the gunshot wound to Crawford-s head, which was fatal, entered the right side of Crawford-s head about four inches above his ear and exited the left side; and that Crawford would have lost consciousness fifteen to twenty seconds after the shot to his head and died within two to five minutes.

The entire course of these events occurred during the evening of September 13, and into the morning of September 14, 1999. That morning, Butterfield and Brittingham were located and interviewed by police. Smith was arrested on the same day, and Pearce was located and arrested a few weeks later. The murder weapon, Pearces .40 caliber pistol, was recovered from the location in Tampa bay where Butterfield stated that Smith had thrown it. The bullets removed from Tuttle and Crawford were matched to the same pistol.

DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE BY TRIAL COUNSEL

Appellant incorrectly cast this claim as one which is purely legal which did not warrant an evidentiary hearing. However, an evidentiary hearing was required to determine what reason, if any, trial counsel did not object to evidence of an uncharged sexual battery coming before Mr. Pearce=s jury.

At the evidentiary hearing, Attorney Ivie testified that he had no recollection of the prosecutor mentioning the uncharged sexual battery in opening statement. (ROA. Vol. I - p. 35-6). Attorney Ware testified at the evidentiary hearing that he vaguely remembered the prosecutor, in opening statement, telling the jury about the sexual battery. (ROA. Vol. IV - p.485). No tactical reason was given by either attorney for failure to object to the introduction of the uncharged sexual battery. This could only have been established at an evidentiary hearing, thus, the evidentiary hearing was clearly necessary.

Appellant incorrectly suggests that the trial attorneys had no legal basis to make an objection to the uncharged crime. Appellant cites Raleigh v. State, 932 So.2d 1054 (Fla. 2006), a case where defense counsel failed to object to the State-s introduction of the coperpetrator-s taped statement. Defense counsel opened the door by introducing portions of the statement on direct examination. In Raleigh, the doctrine of completeness permitted the State to introduce the

remainder of the statement. The record in that case Aestablishe[d] that defense counsel made an informed and reasoned, strategic decision to introduce Figueroa-s taped statement after considering the alternatives. Raleigh at 1064.

Unlike in Raleigh, in Mr. Pearces case, no informed, strategic reason was given by either trial attorney for failing to object to the uncharged crime. Attorney lvie did not remember the uncharged crime being mentioned during the trial. Attorney Ware had only a vague recollection of the uncharged crime.

Appellant-s assertion that any objection would have no legal merit is incorrect. The legal basis for an objection would have been Florida Evidence Code 90.403 - Exclusion on grounds of prejudice or confusion. The trial attorneys were ineffective in failing to make an objection or filing a motion in limine to exclude the prejudicial testimony.

The uncharged crime of sexual battery was not inextricably intertwined with the murder and attempted murder. The uncharged sexual battery did not occur during the same criminal episode and was not relevant to the crimes as charged.

A chronology of events shows that introduction of the uncharged sexual battery was not inextricably intertwined with the charged crimes. A drug deal took place at 8:30 p.m. on September 13, 1999. (FSC ROA Vol VII - 421-22). Joe Havner, the brother of Amanda Havner, who was involved in the drug deal,

arrived at We Shelter America to retrieve Amanda and take her home. Brian Loucks, who managed We Shelter America, met with Joe Havner at the front gate, and Mr. Pearce remained with Tuttle at the back area of the property for an unknown length of time. (FSC ROA Vol. VII-429). While alone with Tuttle in the back area of the property, Mr. Pearce allegedly forced Tuttle to perform oral sex. There was no indication to the other witnesses that a sexual battery took place and no statements were made by either Tuttle or Mr. Pearce. (FSC ROA Vol. VII-432). After Mr. Pearce made a brief phone call, Smith, Butterfield, and Brittingham arrived at We Shelter America. (FSC ROA Vol. VII-431).

When Smith, Butterfield, and Brittingham arrived at We Shelter America, Mr. Pearce, Loucks, Shook, Tuttle, and Crawford were in the office of We Shelter America. (FSC ROA Vol. VIII -594-95). There was conversation between the group. (FSC ROA Vol. VIII -594-95). Mr. Pearce did not threaten anyone. (FSC ROA Vol. VIII -594-95). After discussion, Mr. Pearce said that the group was going to retrieve the money. (FSC ROA Vol. VIII -597). The group then got into the car and drove south on US 41 to State Road 54. Mr. Pearce, who was driving, stopped the car and told Smith to Abreak his fucking jaw. Teach him a lesson@ Tuttle got out of the car and Smith shot him. (FSC ROA Vol. VIII -599).

The cases cited by Appellant do not support the contention that the sexual

battery committed by Mr. Pearce was inextricably intertwined with the murder and attempted murder.

In Remeta v. State, 522 So.2d 825 (Fla. 1988) offenses committed in Texas and Kansas were properly admitted to establish identity and the extent of participation in the Florida murder where defendant asserted that his accomplice was the primary perpetrator in the killing. In Mr. Pearce-s case, neither was his identity at issue nor was the triggerman (Smith) at issue.

In <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1995) the crime in question was one robbery among several robberies committed by the defendant during what was essentially a robbery spree which included murder and attempted murder. In Mr. Pearce-s case, the introduction of the sexual battery was not necessary to establish Acontext, motive, and set-up of the crime@and was not Alinked in time and circumstances with the charged crime.@<u>U.S. v. Canelliere</u>, 69 F.3d 1116 (11th Cir. 1995).

Appellant cited <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 639 So.2d 966 (Fla. 1994) for an exposition of the differences between similar fact evidence and uncharged crimes. Clearly, Tuttles=s testimony of the alleged sexual battery was not similar fact evidence to the charged crimes of murder and attempted murder. t was not <u>Williams</u> rule evidence. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959). It was an uncharged

crime.

Appellant argues that <u>Smith v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 629 (Fla. 1997) supports the contention that the uncharged sexual battery in Mr. Pearce-s case was a part of the same criminal episode. However, as the circuit court stated in the order granting a new trial, in <u>Smith</u>, the defendant was charged and convicted of first-degree murder, attempted first-degree murder, robbery, kidnapping, burglary, arson, and conspiracy to commit a felony which were many more offenses than in Mr. Pearce-s case. The State could have prosecuted Mr. Pearce for sexual battery on Mr. Tuttle but the State chose not to prosecute him.

Appellant suggests that the introduction of the uncharged crime was necessary to establish threats, domination, and malice toward Tuttle. However, if this were the legitimate reason for introduction of the testimony, the State could have properly filed a Williams rule notice. The State did not file such a notice.

In <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 885 So.2d 968 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004), during the presentation of its case-in-chief, the prosecution sought to admit and introduce evidence of six separate, unrelated and uncharged armed robberies allegedly committed by the defendant three hours before the commission of the instant offense. The Thomas court held:

Our court-s decision in *Griner v. State*, 662 So.2d 758

(Fla. 4th DCA 1995), supports the exclusion of the six Dade County crimes and requires a reversal and new trial. In *Griner*, two robberies were committed within a distance of approximately two blocks and occurred within a period of approximately twenty-two minutes. After the evidence was admitted at trial as *Williams* rule evidence, the state on appeal recognized that the evidence did not constitute similar fact evidence and argued to this Court that it was properly admissible as Ainextricably intertwined@ and/or Ainseparable crime@ evidence under

Griffin v. State, supra.

In rejecting the state-s contention on appeal and finding that the admission of this evidence could not be excused or condoned as harmless error, we held: In the present case the facts of the first event were not Ainextricably intertwined@with, or Anecessary to adequately describe@ the second event. The most we can say about the relationship between these two events is that one occurred very soon after the other, which is not sufficient to make the evidence regarding the first incident admissible under *Griffin*, particularly when we weigh the danger of unfair prejudice to defendant against the relevancy of the evidence (citations omitted). Nor can we say that the admission of this evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986) Griner, 662 So.2d at 759.

Likewise, the admission of six unrelated robberies in Dade County three hours prior to the crime at issue here can hardly be considered harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. REVERSED AND REMANDED FOR A NEW TRIAL. <u>Id</u>. at 976.

In Mr. Pearce=s case, the uncharged sexual battery was not Ainextricably intertwined@ and Anecessary to adequately describe@ the second event (the

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